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... 
Thi. 1a an oral history interview held on January 19, 1984, with General 

Lyaan L. Lean1tzer, in Gen. Lean1tzer'. office in the Pentagon. 

Matloff: General, 1£ we 1I8y firet concentrate on' your position .. Cbairun 

of the Joint Chief. of Staff, fro. 1960 to 1962. I voun if you can recall 

the c1rcuaatanc •• of your appoint .. nt to that position--bow it ca .. about, 

what instructions or directive., written or oral, were given to you, au by 

whoa! 

LellDitzer: I hacl been Chief of Staff of the ~, dur1118 '58-' 59-'60, a two 

year.' tenure, and we were coa1118 to the end of Pre.. Ei.enhower f. terll of 

office, in the __ r. ADother factor that entered into it ".. that Gen. 

TwiniD8, who wa. .y predec ••• or a. Cbairun t 'I.. 111, aad during the ,..-r 

he dee1ded that he could DOt unctertake any additional period .. Cbairun. 

So, having beeu Chief of Staff of the Aniy, with Gen. Twini1l8 8tepping 

out, an election COIling up, a change of cOll1lalld, 80 to 8pealt--all tho •• 

thi1l88 worked towerd .y notification by the Secretary of Defen .. Gate., and 

Secretary of the Arlay Brucker, that they were going to lIOJIinate .. as the 

Co.aancler in Chief of the Buropean COIIIIaDd, aDd DOIIinate ~ a. Supra_ 

that the Praddent of the 

United Stat ••• ppoint. the Supr ... Allied Co.aander; he doe. not. 

Matloffl Shall .. apeak about the CbairlWl of the Joint Chiefs first? 

Then we'll apeak later about the SACBUI.. Let' a concentrate the firat 

part of the inteniew on the fint period, if 1M .. y. 

Le1lD1tzar: But that', how thie ca_ about. 
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Matloff: TwiDing was your predecessor. 

Page determined to be Unclassified 
Reviewed Chief, RDD, WHS 
lAW EO 13526, Section 3.5 

Dati: SEP 0 6 .2D13 
Lemnitzer: That'. correct, and when he decided that he could not undertake 

an extension of the tour because of his illness, I was nominated by Secretaries 

Brucker and Gates. and approved by President Eisenhower, whoa 1 knew very well 

as a result of our World War II s.rvice. 

Matloff: Cau you recall any instructions or directives, written or oral, 

that were given to you by the President or by the Secretary of Defense. 

about the new position that you were going to be filling? 

Le.nitzer: 1 don't recall any written instructions, but I was very faail-

iar with the issues of the day. Those largely involved weapon improvement, 

nuclear activities, and the size of American forces at the time. As 

Chief of Staff of the Aray, t had been running into great difficulties 

with the Defen •• Department because it was generally felt that nuclear 

weapons were the panacea of all military issues and that re.ulted in the 

tendency to cut back the Army and put greater emphasis on strategic a1r, 

naval aViation, and 80 on. 

Matloff: This brings up the question: in your view, was your position aa 

Aray Chief of Staff a help or a handicap when you were given this new 

position? 

Leanitzar: I bad been dealing with the.a proble.s aa Aray Chief of Staff, 

and I recognized that I was in a different position, but there wea one 

problem that hung over the whole activities of the Joint Chiefs of Staff 

at that time. KOBt of the two years that 1 vas Chief of Staff of the 

Army we were involved in it. And that wa.--there were great dlsagreeaents. 
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or practically no agr .... nt., on what our atratesic plana vere. We 

didn't have a plan. I recall that Gen. Twining started keeping a liat of 

the la_ea, vbere th.re were difference. of opinion, in all upecta of 

atrategic plans--for exaaple, on .trategic boabing, to pinpoint it. 

Stratesic boabing plana vare what we tleecled &Del cI1dn't have. I think 

be boiled it down to about Zo-.a.. is.ue., on which there va. great 

di versi ty of opinion 8IIOng the Chiefa, and we were Dever able to co.. to 

agre.ment all uny of thea. So t one of the first thing. that I und.rtook 

when I bee ... Cbairllall and took over trOll Gen. Twining, on 1 October 

1960, waa to see if we couldn't br.ak through this i.p .... on atratesic 

boabing. 

Katloft: The initial proble .. vere atrategic ba.ically? 

Laalt •• ra Yes. 

Katloff: Did you eet ally priorities for yourself, or vere any set for you 

by the Pre.ident or the Secretary of Defen.e, 1n haadl!ng your functions? 

Old they say that <:ertain taska ware uppel'1DOat? 

Le.a1tzer: No, no one atte.pted to •• t any priorities within the Chi.f., 

but I set the atrategic bo.bing proble. right at the top. It was obvious that 

there were eo .. ny diveree vie .. ; that we didn't have a plan; and that thet 

vas the number one priority vithin the organization. 

Matloff: Did that change in any way during the cour8e of the two year. that 

you _"edf Were th.re otber functiona or other proble •• that ca. to the 

fore of even greater i.portance, or of aqual iaportance? 
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Lellllitzer. No. there were not any proble.s of equal iaportance, in .y 

view. and 1 can tell you how I attacked this problem and how we resolved 

it. I set that as high priority, and also almost parallel with it. I felt 

that the que.tion of the so-called .issile gap was arising. The latter was 

a very controversial ilaue. There were no agr.e.ents between the variOU8 

agencies involved. And that problem was one that took a very very bad 

turn, in ay opinion. because the politics of it was that there was a great 

.i.si1e gap between our capabilities 1n the nuclear weaponl and strategic 

boabing area and those of the Soviet Union. 

Matloff: Did you feel that thare was auch a gap when the question first 

came up about this so-called "ai,sile sap"? 

Laanltzer: No, matter of fact, I thought that there was a small gap, but 

that we were in the lead. The strange thing about it\, was that in the 

c .. paisn, it came out the other way around--tbat there wes a great ai.,l1e 

sap between our capability and tbe Soviet Union and tbat the Soviets were 

way ahead of us. That wes the way it ended up in politics. 1 don't think 

it would be out of place here just to mention that during ISJ first weeka, I 

spent a lot of time briefing Pre.ident Kennedy on nuclear mattera. I urged 

President Eisenhower in hi, contacts with President Kennedy, When he wa, 

cosing in office, to assist, because the new President had no idea about 

these proble ••• 

Matloff: In the changa of adainlstration fra. Pres. Eisenhower to President 

Xennedy, dld that in any way change your position, your functions, or con-

ceptions of your role? 

L8IIIlltzer: No, it did not. There waa another issue in the transition that 

caae out loud and clear, and that was the problem or the likelihood of getting 
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Into trouble with the Sovlet Union on the contactl with Berlin. There was 

har ..... nt by the Soviets on the Autobahn and in the air corridor., which 

worried Prelident Kenoady greatly. 

Matloff: So 10 •• l"\1e. began to co •• to the fore that bad not been on the 

front burner? 

Leanitzer: They were not on the front burner because the nuclear issue 

overshadowed all the other thing_ at that particular ti.e. 

Matloff: We'll touch on the Berlin crisi. later. Let's talk a little 

about interservice rivalry. Certainly aa Amy Chief of Staff you had run 

Into that. As Cbairman of the Joint Chiefs. how seriou. a probl •• v .. the 

interserviee rivalry and co.petition for you? Did that have a great impact 

durlng your tenure on operations, prolra •• , and policies? 

Leanitzer: In general, it did not. I think that one of the reasons for 

this ii, that the interservie_ rivalry during .y Chi.f of Staff tenure 

primarily involved use of aviation. air d.fenae, and things of this char-

act.r. Airlift was a major factor. Fortunately, a cla .... t. of mlne, 

Gen. Thoaas Whlt., wal Chief of Staff of th_ Air Porce when I was Chief 

of Staff of the Amy, and on several occasions we worked out i.sues that 

had never been worked out 8ucc ••• fully betwe.n U8. 1 think we had a 

closer rapport wh.n Gen. White was Chief of Staff of the Air Pore.. Be 

was followed by Gen. LeMay, a. you know. Nov there'. one other feature 

that came 10 here. Airlift turn.d out to be quit. a controvers1al 18aue. 

I kept pointing out before congres.ional ca.aittees a. Chaiman, just as 

I had previously when I w .. Chief of Staff of the Army, that we didn't 
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have enough airlift. My problem was that everybody e18e thought that we 

did have enough airlift. This i.sue turned out to be a major i •• ue 

between the Amy and the rest of the servic.s. Gen. Twining thought we 

had .aple airlift. Even Gen. Whlte thoulht we did. The Secretary of 

Defense thouaht we bad enough airlift, and so did the President. On one 

occaslon while I was stlll Chief of Staff of the Army, Hr. Vin.on at one 

hearing 88id, "General, you claim that we're very deficient in airlift 

and everybody else thinks otherwise. 1'. tired of the .. discussiona and 

1'. going to appoint a chairman of a aubcoa.ittee to examine the whole 

airlift problea. I'. going to appoint as chairman Mr. Mendel livers, and 

we're loins into all features of this particular issue, and we're goinl 

to set It Bettled." To make a lonl story short, the hearinse lested 

about two aonths. I attended everyone of thea, and when an is.ue ca. 
up, I was always called upon to .. y soaethins. That ca.aittee unau1aously 

agreeel that we were very deficient in alrlift and that we had to undertake 

a new prolra. because we didn't even have a new airplane in our inventory 

that we were going to build. This resulted in the adoption of the C-141, 

the first jet airlift aircraft. 

Matloff: Did you find that, aa a result of the.e differencea of vieva of 

soae of the .ervicea at least on the questions of airlift and other iaauea, 

pos.ibly, you .s Chairman and the Joint Chiefs as a corporate body were drawn 

into the discussions and deciaions over budset foraulation? 

L4nII1itzer: Indeed, as Chief of Staff of the Amy, I thought that we were 

,ettin, shortchanged. 
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Matloff: Bow about in the other role, as Chairman of the Joint Chiefs, 

where you had to slt In on the wbole show? 

L81IIlitzerr By the ti_ I beca .. Chalnaan some of the 18aues bad been 

resolved. I re .. mber that the i •• ue of nuclear weapons and .oae of our 

nuclear weapon and missile problems occurred durlna the period when Admiral 

ladford wa. the Chairman of the Joint Chiefa of Staff and even wben I wa. 

Vice Cbief of staff of the Army. Ada. Radford thousht that the nuclear 

weapon was tbe panacea of all the military il18, and that we just didn't 

need any larse forces--tbat military issues could be settled by nuclear 

weapolUl. 

Matloff: II there anything that you and the Secretaries of Defense with 

whoa you served--Gatea, McNaaara--dld or tried to do to sitisate the coa-

petition amonS the service., do you recall? Each one wa. trying to set a 

piece of the budget, obviously. 

Le1Dl1tzer: That was true then, and it's true today. In di.cus.lona that we 

had, within the Chiefa, we were able to resolve soae of these issues, aod 1n 

sose ca.es they had to go up to the Secretary of Defen.e and even to the 

pre.ldent. To go back now con.iderably further, I took over from Gen. 

Taylor as Chief of Staff of the Army, He had taken several issues of 

splits, budgetary probl ••• , past the Secretary of Defense to the President. 

Aa a .. teer of fact he didn't com. out very succes.fully, because in BlOst 

c.... the d.cisions of the Secretary of Defens. and the reco.aendation. 

of the then Cbairllall, Adm. Radford. were pretty much adopt.d. 
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Matloff: Let lie uk you about your relationahip .. Cbalrll8ll with the 

Secretary of Defenae, the Deputy Secretary of Defenae, aad other top 

officiala to OSD. How often did you lIeet with the Secretary of Defenae, 

and Deputy Secretary of Defenae? 

Lemnitzer: We undertook a regular weekly lIeeting with the Secretary of Defense. 

Matloff: Are you apeaking now about all the Joint Chiefa? 

LeTA1litzer: All the Joint Chiefs .eetins on Monday afternoon, at 2 zOO. 

We susgested, and Secretary Gatea agreed wholeheartedly, that we have a 

lIeeting with the Secretary of Defenae eaeh week, and we .. intatned that 

all during .y tenure. 

Matloff: This wa. al.o when Secretary MeN ... ra took over7 

Lemnitzer: Yes, clear down with Secretary MeNaGara. 

Matloff: Was the Deputy Secretary in on theae diacusslons too? 

Le.n1tzerl Occasionally. Deputy Secretary Quarlea, 1 r .... ber, once or 

twice conducted theae, because the Secretary was out of the city. We 

tried to .. intain this resularity of a lIeeting every week. But it didn't 

exclude the poaslbility of a special aeeting on a certain issue occasionally. 

I .uat aay that lIany of thoae tasu.s were budgetary. 

Matloff: AI Chairman, how did you handle the proble. of split views to the 

Joint Chiefs, particularly with reference to the Secretary of Defenee and 
• 

the Preddent7 

LemnlUer: All durin. IIY ti .. aa Vice Chief of Staff 81ld Chief of Staff 

of the Aray 1 was rather di ... yed and fru.trated that in the comalttees 

that were preparing paper. and 80 oa, there wa. insufficient pro.ptne •• 
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1n resolving those iasues. When I became Cbairaaa, one of the first 

things that 1 did was to indicate to the Joint Staff that a prohl.a 

that caused an !apa .. e would DOt remain at an apesle lODger than one 

week. That, in ay opinion, went a long way to speeding up S0a8 of the 

activities we had 1n the Joint Staff. In lilY appearance before Congre •• 

last year on the reorganization of the Joint Chiefs, I pointed thi, out 

aa one of the first things that I did to speed up the activities. So, if 

tbere w.s a difference of opinion within the comalttees, the problea c ... 

up to tbe Joint Chiefs, and if we split in tbat area, it went to the 

Secretary of Defense risht away. 

Matloff: Did you also superimpose your own views, if they were different? 

Leanitzer: Yes, I had Illy paper prepared aa Chairaan. I want to concen-

trate SOIlewhere along her.» whenever you think it'. appropriate, on how 

we reaolved the SlOP, SIngle Intesrated Operational Plan. 

Matloff: If tbis was one of the questions of the splits, if you'd like to 

use that as an example. 

Le1llD1tzer: Thi. was the pre-eainent split. This is the course I adopted. 

1 told Secretary Gates that this waa an Impossible aituation, that the 

Chiefa were earnestly calling the aituation IUJ they saw it, but that we 

weren't getting anywbere. I recommended to Secretary Gates that I call in 

all the unified and specified coaaanders, and the Chiefs, and we'd so out 

to Caaha. I think that "e went out on a Wednesday. We arsued these twenty-

80.e prlnciple.--where there was differences of opinion--for about three 

day.. We resolved all but about five or six i.sues. I called Secretary 
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Gates on Friday and told hi. that we bad resolved quite a number of tha.e 

but that wa had five or six issues atill unresolved, and I suggested that 

he coa. out on Saturday and we would present the splits to hilll, to see what 

his decisions were, and see if we couldn't resolve this problaa. He ca.e 

out on a Pr14ay, actually. 1 know that t presented Illy attitude, which was 

different froa any of the Chiefs on one or two of th8lll, and each one had 

his say on these splits. Secretary Gates lII8de the decision on all of thea. 

On Saturday .orning we had a meeting--Secretary Gat .. was there-and I 

anDQunced the decisions on these 18sues. Then I asked the group present, 

the unified and specified comaanders and the Chiefs of Staff, "Is there any 

of you that can't live with these decidonsr" They said DO. SO we wrote 

out a short comauniquS on Saturday morning at Offutt Base in Oaaha. There 

were hundreds of preas people because they saw this gathering of the brass 

in Oaaha and thought that something big wa. going on. Secretary Gates and 

I went into the coaaander's office and we called the President. I should 

have said all along that I had acquainted the President with what I proposed 

to do, the basis for golng out to Offutt. 

Katloff: This was President Eisenhower? 

LellDitserl Eiaenhower. I pointed out to the President that we had resolved 

aan1 of the issues, except five or aix. Secretary Gates had cOllIe out and 

had aac:le the decision on the five, and we wanted to issue a c01lllllUDiqu' to 

the pres~. indicating that coaplete agreeaent had now been reached. I 

reaeaber 88 though it happened yesterday. Ue said, "Put .y name to that 

list." So when the ca.auniqui was i,sued, it indicated that there waa 
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agraeaent in the Chiefs, that the Preaident and the Secretary of defenae 

were agreed, and that the Single Integrated Operational Plan, SlOP, would 

be built i.aediately. 

Matloff: Were there any other eaeea of aplita being taken to the President 

himself? 

LelUlitaer: No, I don't re •• ber offhand. I 1Iay think of so ••• 

Matloff: How dId you handle the problem when Congreas showed an intereat 

in views of the Joint Chiefs? Were there ever any eases Where you had the 

problem of handling splits in dealing with Congresa? 

LellD.itzer: It happened frequently. The kind of problem we ran into fre-

quently occurred, in ay opinion, between the military and the civilian 

leadership. 1 recall appearing with Secretary Brucker of the A~y. I aade 

ay presentation and he made his presentation. Then they bad given us a 

question period. Every once in a while, this was in the Senate part1cu-

larly, but not always in the Senate, sOlDetimes in both houses, when they 

didn't aaree with &oID.thina the Secretary said, they would put the question, 

"General, you were Chief of Staff of the Aray, what did you recommend?" In 

several CBS8S, we recommended differently froa the Secretary. And that's 

the way we had to leave it. Then it was up to the Congress to resolve that 

particular iaaue, if it involved money and authority. 

Matloff: Let ae ask you about working relationships with the State Depart-

ment and it, Secreeary when you were Chairman. Did you have aany dealings 

with the State Departaent and with its Secretary? 
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Leuitzer: COQtinuouely. Thie vas lIOt such of a proble. for .e, because 

I had been working with the State Department on the developaent of the mi1-

itary aid program and the drafting of the NATO treaty. You see, I had been 

called frca .y assignment as Deputy Chief of Staff of the Netional War 

College by Secretary Porrestal to repreeent hi., and I went to Europe to 

meet with a military comalttee of the five powers, wbich was the military 

aide of the Bru .. els Pact. I was involved in the drafting of the NATO 

treaty, working with State--with Jack Ohly, Ted Achille., and many others. 

I bad very little proble.e, a1l1Ost none, in dealing with aeabers of the 

Department of State. 

Hetloff: Did you bave frequent dealings as Chairman with the Secretary of 

StateT Or were you dealing with other parte of the State Departaent? 

Le1lDitaer: No, I did not. I knew Dean Acheeon and John loeter Dulles very 

well. I did not have problems with issuee between State and Defense. 

Hetloff: Bow about access to the Presielent as Chairman? Did you have 

direct access to the president or did you have to go through the staff 

secretary or later the national security a.sistant, as he was called? 

Bow Were you able to get to the president if you wanted to? Let's take 

President lieenhower, then President Kennedy. 

Leanitzer: No problea. in either ca.e. All I had to do was to expr ... 

an opinion that I wanted to .. e thea, and I never had anything turned 

down. 

Hetloff: Did you have to 10 through the Secretary of Defenee? 
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w1IDltzer: Y.I. For exaaple t both the Secretary of Defense anel the 

Prelielent .. cta it clear whan I bec .. a Chairaan--and they knew that I 

bad been ill the circuit for awhile-that I always had access to thea. 

I naver had any quaba. about not bavin8 personal contact with the 

Secretary of Defense or the President. 

Matloff: Did it change in any way when Kennedy beeaae PresidentT 

Le1lDitzer: Mo, it did not. As a utter of fact, oae of the thlDg. wlch 

I appreciated very such was that there was no change, because here w •• a 

president who was taking over fraa a preddeDt that had been in the 

ailitary all of his life and the probleas were entirely different. He 

needed lots of briefings for exaaple, on the SlOP, the use of nuelear 

weapone, alert plane, and things of this kind. 

Matloff: Lett. talk a Uttle about the perception of the Soviet threat 

when you were Chalraan. Do you recall your vi8w of the Soviet threat 

when you utuBed that officeT 

Le1lDitzer: I had JUde up my mind on that long before I became Chairman. 

I was in general agreement that the Soviets were a threat. that they bad 

outbuilt us ill aUitary forces, and 80 on. I wae a fira beli.ver in the 

drafting of the NATO treaty. It. 8uch a believer in NATO that I'a stUI 

.pendtng .y time in the lecture and public speakiag prograa today. So I 

just .. intained that particular view all the way through--and it was 

confirmed by intelligence. 

Hatloff: Did your view change 10 any way a. a result of your experience 

as Chairaan of the Joint Chi.f.' 
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Katloff: Were there any differences aaonl the Joint Chiefs of Staff on 

perceptions of the threat, or were you pretty unaniaoua aa to what the 

threat wa and how it appeared? 

LeDitzer: I don't recall that we had auy Ireat differences within the 

Chiefs. Occasionally we lot aome difference of opinion between the 

civilian side of Defense, the varioua .. siatant .. cretaries and ao on, 

reg8rd1nl the intensity or the character of the threat. But within the 

Chiefa. durinl my U_, I jus t don't recall auy major apl1 t that we had. 

insofar a. the sasuitude of the threat waa concerned. 

Matloff: Did you find any differences between Defense and State over the 

thread 

Lnmitcer: Occaaionally, yea. But the one case that I re .. Jlber was in 

drawing up the firat .ilitary aid prolra~and now I'. loiog back before 

ray tenure at Cbairman--we calle up with the first budget on that prolraa. 

A8 I recall it, the coaaittee on which I was the Defense representative 

for Mr. Por~atal caae up with a $1.1 billion recomaendatioo for a1litary 

a1d in the '49 or '50 budget--I don't recall which, but the first one. I 

waa a meaber of the FMACC, the Foreiao Military Assistance Coordinating 

Ca.alttee, and we were representatives of our respective aecretariea. 

When that request went to the Office of Manageaent and Budget, which was 

the Budget Bureau in those daya, it recommended a reduction fora the $1.1 

billion to $900 and so ••• 1111on. We in the FMACC proteated vigoroudy. 

I don't know how our proteata got to Preaident Truaan, but ve pointed out 
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to the pre81dent--it wa. 111 the peper, and I don't recall any penonal con-

tact with the pre.ident--that if this program wasn't at leaat $1 billion, 

it would not ~prea. anybody. Between the secretariea, who were with us 

on this, aDd the FMACC, with their silitary and foreign policy people, 

the pree1dent llOved it 'back up over $1 billion. 

Matloff: ~ia wa. before your period as Chairaan? 

Lemnitzer. light. 

Matloff: Let.e ask you on atrategy and strategic planning during your 

tenure as Chairmao--vho waa primarily reaponaible and influential? the 

Joint Chief.t the Secretary of Defenae's ahop? the servicea? Who waa 

m.king the atratesy in the Defenae Deparcaent? 

Le .. itzer: 1 would aay that it was a combination of the. all. There 

waan't any sbarp dlfference in la8ues. Where the diaagreeaenta came was 

in dealtnl with the roles and 1II18alonl of each of the services to get the 

wherewitbal, the material and the perlonnel to carry out itl particular 

responsibilitiea. 

Hatloff: Do you recall what the aquabblea were in thoae daya, the differences 

in the .ervice outlooks? 

Lemnitzer: The first one was due to the generel tendency to believe that 

nucle.r weaponl took care of a lot of the military proble... To a lot of 

people ground forces were DOt required in the future. That .tarted under 

Cen. Taylor, when he wa. ehief, and then 1 caae along. Therein lay the 

problea. We had alao a probl.a of air defense. W. had a bell of a ti .. 

with the differences within the •• rvicea--the Air Force vaa developing a 
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weapon know as the BOMAJ.C; the Amy vas developing the NIU. I recall 

aomethlng now that 1 should have covered before where we had differences of 

opInion, and that was in apace. That occurred when I was Chairman. Aa. 

r.sult of that controversy •• s I •• ntioned in my dedication speech for the 

Eiaenhower monument [at West Point], great antagoni •• arose within the 

services In tryIng to get a hold on space. As It happened, the Aray had 

the greatest Wherewithal and program in the space area. We had Wernher von 

Braun and his people that we had brought over fro. Peeneaunde. The Air 

lorce and the Navy alao wanted a big chunk of space. A. 1 pointed out to 

the public. General Eisenhower saw the probl .. s of interservlce rivalry on 

the space issue. and he decided that this va. DOt the role of the araed 

servicea. In his oplnion--and he had lots of advisers on this--the requlre-

menta for space were going to be far in excess of what any of the services 

could expect in money or per80nnel. He decided that we were goin8 to have 

another asency, NASA, to handle the apace proble., and tben the services 

could get back to their original basic mls.lon •• 

MaUoff: I take it you went alons witb this as ChairJlAD7 

Leaaltzerz Ab80lutely. This was a difficult one for •••• former Chief 

of S taU of the Amy. 

Matloff: That'. Why I aaked before, dId you find your position as former 

Aray Chief of Staff a help or a handicap at ti.e.? 

Leuitzer: But when the President lIade hi. decidon and 8.1d there w •• not 

going to be anything in the services on space, I accepted it wholeheartedly 

and continued to support it. 
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Katloff: Bow clo.ely did tbe President. and Secretaries of Defen.e that 

you served with .s Chairman follow the developaent. in military stratesy? 

1 aa thinkinS DOW about Bisenhower and Kennedy. and speakina about Gates 

and McNall8ra. 

Le1llDi tzer: 1 t' s bard to coapare thea. because President Bisenhower w.. 80 

familiar with the background of some of the things that were coainS alons 

in weapon., 1I1ss11e •• cOll.unlcation •• helicopters. and th1nss of thls kind, 

by virtue of his beinS a foraer Chief of Staff and his close ... ociation 

with the .ilitary. He bad a quite different attitude than Pre.ident Kennedy, 

for example, who had no backsround and experience In it. 

Katloff: Bow about 8IIODS the Secretaries of Defense? Did you find any dif-

ference ..ang them? 

Leanitzer: Greatly. You dido't have to spell thinss out 10 too lIuch detail 

for Secretary Gatea, but when Secretary McNaaara caae in. it waa quite a 

drastic chanse. He wanted to get into all the detaUs. ADd therein lay 

some of tbe proble.s that we had. A. you probably knoW, ahortly after 

President Kennedy was elected president. he made his first appointaent--

McNamara aa Secretary of Defenae. KcNaaara set up an office alongside 

Secretary Gates and atarted to get riSht into the business, but Secretary 

Gatea made it clear that he was atill Secretary. I remember sOlIe of the 

comaents that Secretary McNamara made. that he was 80in8 to cut down the size of 

tbe Defense Department, that it had mucb too much people, only to find, as 

years went on, that he took unto the Defense Departllent saany of the things 

17 



·.Pag~ determined to be UnclassHied 
RevIewed Chie', RDD WHS 
lAW EO 13526, Section 3.5 . 
Data: SEP 0 6 .2~l3 

th.t ware the raapoOlib111tle. of the .. rvicea, particularly in procura­

.. nt, and tbinaa of thb kiDd. It expanded rather than declined. 

Hatlo!f: Tb1. ratae. a question in conneet10n with 8tr.tesic plennina. 

The KeNaaara period ia u8ually al.ociated with utili81ns co.t analy.il 

techuiqua8, or aYlte .. anal,..il. What w.re the .treoeth. or -..kne .... 

of tbe .y.t... analy.1. approach in connection with the work of the Joint 

Chi.f. and Joint Staff? I'll apeaking apeeifieally in the ItratelY field. 

How did you react to thatf 

Lallinitsar: Very controverllal. When we would work 10Ql and hard to relolve 

.ome of the 11.ue. between the service. and produce a flul docu.ent to 

get to the Secretary of Defen •• , aDd 10 following it up f1nd out that it 

w.. aent down to a 'yate.. analy.il group with no .tlitary experience at 

all, and c18pendins on the. primarily, lIbether to approve or lIKJd1fy it, 1t 

didn't Iq well with the Chiefl, a. you can i_glne, becau •• ben were e 

lot of youq, brllUant paople, but without any experience. 

Katloff: Are you lpeakiQl particularly of Dr. Enthoven'. aDaly.ta? 

Le1lD1 tser : 'lha t 'I riSht. 

Matloff: Let me uk. you thb quelt10n about the atratelY of flexible 

rel~n .. which besan to COM .into the new aore and more, particularly 

with tbe colllns of the lCennady ad.lnbtratione Bow important did you 

resard the adoption of the .111tary atrategy of flexible re.ponee? 

Old thi. lit well with you, in light of your previou. line of thinking? 

La.utt.er: I conlidered it one of the moat ~port.nt adoptloOi of overall 

Itrategy. It .... obvioU8 that with the progr ••• that the Soviet Union w .. 
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.. kinl in nuclear weapons, it was .tupid to con.ider the .... ive retalia-

tlon concept, which was before it. 1 had a lot of difficulty on this with 

General De Gaulle later oa. 

Matloff: In your SACEUB. hat? 

Leultzer: When I waa Vice Chief and Chief of Staff, anel .0 OIl. it was 80 

obvious that we were not loina to nuclear war becauae there was a small 

attack on the western front. 

Matloff: Did you have any proble .. with Dulles or any of the other expo-

nent. of .. asive retaliation. particularly in the li.enhower adaini8tra-

tion. aince thi. is identified with the .... iva retaliation policy. 

LeIUlitzer: No, I think that within the Defen.e Department and within the 

Joint Chief. the problem waa pri .. rily with the Air Porce on this one. 

Matloff: Rather than with State, and with the Secretary of State. who bad 

enUDciated the doctrine? 

Le1lD1tzer: I don't recall that we bad any lreat difficulty in the acceptance 

of flexible re.ponae 1n lieu of .... iv. retaliation. 

Matloff: Oae aspect of flexible re.pons. Is, of course. the li.ited war 

option. Did you view that a. an important option for the President to have? 

Under .. ssive retaliation there wa some question about the role of 1118ited 

war. 

L.lIIlitzer: It 18 all wrapped up in the sa .. ball of wax. It was obvious 

that we were dealinl with a power that didn't have any nuclear weapons at 

one time, anel now it bad a con.iderable capability, almo.t comina on to 

match our owu. and that we were loinl to nuclear war for minor i •• ue. 
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!asues. And the principle difficulty in changing that over in our dealing 

vith NATO and so on was primarily with the French. 

Hatloff: You met up with thit problea in both your capaciti... When we 

co.e to the NATO area, ve'll talk about that part of it later. if ve may. 

Let .. direct your at tention to the crisis areas that arose vhen you were 

in the Chai~n'. role. for esa.pls, the Bay of Pigs. What val ths role of 

the Joint Chiefs of Staff and of itl Chairaan in fhat invasion and crisis? 

Leaa1tzer: The role of the Chi.fs was aerely to kesp in contact vith the 

planning that va. going on in State and CIA, and to offer advice on sp.-

eifie questions, or occasionally, vhen our contact officer saw that sa.e-

thing vas ca.lng up, to give advice. But the advice vas seldoa requested 

and seldo. adopted. 

Matloff: Who set the instruction on giving advice to the CIA? 

Le.nltzer: Oceasionally Mr. Bis.ell va. head of the planning in CIA. 

Matloff: I aeant who set the para.ters of the role of the Joint Chiefs in 

In this connection? W .. it the Prelident? The Secretary of DefenleT 

Le.nltzer: Just aa it had been accepted, the noraal .ilitary advisers to 

things that ware golng on In the political and foreiBn policy field. 

Matloff: There vas no special instruction in this case? 

Leaaitzer: No, none. 

Matloff: Were the vieva of the Joint CMefs of Staff BOught? Did anybody 

seek the view. of the Joint Chief. of Staff in planning this operation? 

Le.nitzer: No, 1 want to get this one very clear. Certain aspeets vere 

.entioned to the Chiefs. This vas • CIA project. I've bad hundreds of 
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interviewa on thIa, and I try to eaphaaize these featurea, because I was 

right in the .iddle of this ODe. The idea started in the last monthl of 

lilenhower's prelldency. The idea wal that trouble was brewing in Cuba; 

that Castro had turned out to be a ca..uniatj and that there were lots of 

Cubans around and through Central America who were vIolently oppoled to 

Castro. The project was -conceived within CIA to build up, train, and 

equip a force of Cubanl to lII8lte a night land1na on a rellOte part of Cuba 

to get up into a redoubt where they could not be successfully dealt with, 

and that would provIde a rallying point for the Cuban people. That was 

the concept. A8 tille went on, planning besan to chanae, and we never had 

a band in decidlns that you should do this or that. We did give an 1nd1-

cation that there wa. a reasonable chance of succe.. of a Cuban force 

makins a elandeatine landins under cover of darkness In a rellOte part of 

Cuba to get into a redoubt. Yes, we laid that there was a reasonable 

chance of success. We never bad a chance to look at the whole plan 

because it kept chansina. It changed to a Nonaandy type of landing at 

the 1I08t vulnerable part r1Sht near where Castro's .ilitary capabilities 

were. 

Matloff: Would you say that the JCS were adequately infomed in the course 

of this plannins? 

Leanitzer: I don't know how you would .... ure the word "adequately." 

Matloffr Were they kept abreast of the chanse. In the plan, for exaaple7 

Le1IInltzer: Aa the chanse. wera goina on, they were tlever put up to the 

JoInt Chief. of Staff to approve or diaapprove. We were on the outside 
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of the planD1.ng. Mr. Bi88e11 and his staff held it very closely, aa they 

should have. Of cour.e, one of the critical factora, as I pointed out 

before the Senate cOllla1ttee, was the preddent'. decidon to cancel the 

air attack on Cuban force. the moroins of the day of the landina. 

Matlof!: Were the Joint Chiefs of Staff infor.ed of that before be did it? 

Lemnitzer: Mo, never. 

Matloff: What elae went wrong in handlins the operation, would you say. 

In lootins back, aaide fra. the problema of plannina, logistic •• and 

airlift? 

Lellllitzer: The conatant cbansins. bit by bit. In the concept. They were 

a .. ll individual chanses which resulted in a dra.tic change of the concept 

of the whole thing. 

Matloff: Wbat le88on. would you say were learned frOil the handlinS of 

tbat operation? 

LellDltzer: That there waa not close enough contact. It was in the wrong 

place. The original concept we agreed with. There were Iota of clandestine 

operation. 11ke this goins on all around the world. But this one chanaed. 

It Involyed s.all changea, but it ultlmately came to a drastic chanse in 

the concept. It went so far as to cancel the 1IlOat critical part of the 

whole attack. without notifying or asking the Chief. about it. There ... 

not close enough contact. alao. during tbe plannins of thi •• 

!fa tiolf : Between wbom? 

LellDitzerl Between the Chiefs. or the Defen.e Depart1llent. and the CIA. 
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Matloff: YOIl recall that there waa a study group eet up afterwards, the 

Cuban Study Group so-called? 

Le.aitzerl Yea, 1 do. General Taylor ran it. 

Matlotf: They caae out with aoae reca.aendations about the role of the 

Joint Chiefa of Staff in Cold War operations. Did you agree with tho.e 

recomaendatlons? 

Lum! tser: I don't recall wha t they were. 

Matloff: There was soa& discussion that the Joint Chiefa would have to 

be drawn in IIOre on questions of econoaie and political mattera. They 

couldn't be left out; they would have to be con8ulted. Their opinion and 

advice would bave to be drawn upon, too, a.ns other things. 

LelU11tzer: This is sort of an idealistic atateament-that there should 

be closer contact. I.plied was that if the Joint Chiefa had _de a recOIl-

aendation it vould be adopted. Those are things that didn't occur. 

Hatloff: Were you consulted by that study group, do you recall? 

Leanitzer: Not consulted, no. 

Matloff: It waa an independent group! 

LeaniUer: 'that va. an independent group, with Gen. Taylor and Bobby Kennedy. 

Matloff: ADM Burke was on it. 

Leanitzer: Right. 

Matloff: Another developaen:t which you aay also reae1llber vas that Kenaedy 

gave instruction., following the Bay of Pigs operation, that the Joint 

Chiefs of Staff should henceforth look at questions transcending purely 

ailitary consider. tiona. Does that ring a bell? 
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Matloff: Were you and the Joint Chi,f. eomfortable with th.s. instructions? 

Le1lDitzer: No, absolutely not. Let me tell you where it ca.e to a head--

at on. of the first meetinss of the National Seeurity Council after Kennedy 
. " 

became President. I accoapanied Secretary McNamara to that meeting. I 

think It was only about the third or fourth aeeting. We went through the 

agenda. I waa Dot a .. mber of the Councl1, but 1 was in attendance, and 

after we went through the regular asenda that was circulated, the President 

said, "1 understand you fellow. want to talk about Korea." So, 80me 8uy in 

tbe back row got up and .ald, "Yes sir, we have atudied and evaluated the 

Korean situat10n and we reco.aend that the A.erlcan troop. be withdrawn 

fro. lorea as it 18 very likely to set us involved In a war on the continent 

of Alia." And 10 I thought to .Yle1f, .y God, I wonder where 1 was in all 

tbis, and I .aid to Secretary McNamara, "Mr. Secretary, What the hell 1s 

all this about, did you know that this .tudy was 80in8 on?" He responded, 

"I beard that they were g01ns to lUke a study of It. Dontt you knowanytb1na"" 

1 said, "Never heard of It. The Joint Chiefs of Staff bad never hesrd of 

it." He saId, "Mr. President, Gen. Lemnitler earlier this year or leat 

year had a divlsion in Korea, and bets surprised at this recoaaendation. I 

sugsest that he explain the situation to you." 80 I said, "This rec01l1Mnda­

tion which involve. withdrawal of military forces from the continent of 

Asia baa never baen referred to the Joint Chief. of Staff." The Preaident 

wa. kind of sbaken by tbis. and tben I .aid, "I had a div11ion in Koreai 1 

know the Korean situation very well; and I know I can .,eat on the vieva of 
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the Joint Chiefs of Staff. We would DDt recoaaend under any clrcuaatancea 

the withdrawal of ~.r1can forc.s froa Korea. We've got a great investment 

in Korea.· I had the number of caaual tiea and wounded, and even the .oney 

at ay fin.ertips in tho.e days, and I 8aid, -It's juat incredible that such 

a atudy could be .. de without the Joint Chie~. of Staff vie .. and I can 

assure you tbat the Joint Cbiefa of Staff are unani.ously opposed." The 

Preaident got kind of red In the face, and be said. -That's all for tbb 

meeting. The meeting'. adjourned." We never beard anotber tbing about 

it until the year that Mr. Carter was running for president. when the 

aaae thing wa. reCa.a8nded again, by the aame people, over in State. 

Matlolf: In this queetion of the area in which the Joint Chiefs Should 

be operating after the Bay of Pl.s operatlon--the reca..endat1on tbat 

tbey look at questiona tranacending purely .ilitary eonslderations--your 

feeling waa that thl. was not the proper role for tbe Joint Cbief.t Do 1 

understand that correctly, or DOtt 

LeJlD1tzer, Ye., it waa. I'. glad that you .entioned tbis, becauae I had 

gotten off the track a little bit. On one atudy that they bad, tbe Joint 

Chiefs of Staff were opposed to soae action that waa taken. Bitber Cll or 

State w.a gettinl .ore aggressive in au actioa. The President at the end 

of the National Security Council ... ting directed that the Joint Chiefa 

of Staff study the econo.1c and other aspects aDd DOt restrict tbeir reca.-

mendationa to the ailitary. That's rigbt. 

Matloff: Old you feel that waa good and proper auldance1 

Leanitzer: 1 tbougbt that it was crazy. 
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Katloff: That this was not the proper area for the Jolnt Cb1efa7 

Leanitzer: Becau •• w. could not have the ba.l. for the etudy of the 

ec:onoaic !apacts of it. 1 thought that wae about the IIOst far out d.cidon 

th.t Preeident Kennedy .. de, to .y knowladge, during his tenura. 

Matloff: In looking at tha record., I learned that later OQ President 

John.on i •• ued .i.il.r in.tructions. 

Leui tzar z Be did 7 1 didn't' know tha t. 

Matloff: Soon aft.r h. came into offic.. Lat'. focus on the criais that 

aro •• in Berlin in 1961. Do you r.c.ll the 1'01. of the Joint Chief. in 

that cri.i.? lor example. on the call up of the reser.e.? Did you and 

the Jolnt Chi.fs feel that tbb w •• good recQII'Mnd.Uont Do you reaeaber 

the logicT Why you felt that way? 

Leanitzer: We r.coaaendad it. Let' ..... how to get .t thb. Pre.id.nt 

Kenn.dy had two de.p concern. wben h. took oval'. I briefed hi. for three 

or four dey. at the re.idence he w.. occupying in C.orgetown before tha 

in.ugur.tion •• nd I .sked Pre.id.nt !i .. nhower every tiae I had • chance. 

"Would you pl •••• pass this OQ to President Kennedy when he takes over. 

b.c.use he hasn't any background in this.- One of Kennedy's concerna ... 

that he would be awakened .t two o'clock in the IIOrning with the DeW 

that there v ••• flock of .irpl.n •• and .1&sil •• on the way and that he 

should launch our retali.tory weapona. He felt that th1a could happen. 

The other thing he worried about vas that aoae .ergeant or lieutenant 

would get angry .t the Soviet bar .... ent OD the Autobahn in Europe 

and would sboot a lun. Tho.e two things bothered hi. very very deeply. 
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So, on the occasion of the bulldinl of the Berlin wall, ve didn't know what 

was 80ing to happen. We had no intelligence of what Ihrushchev's total 

plan was. But here they vere building a wall about six inches away frOll 

the border line and puttin8 a cage around Berlin. We considered in the 

Ch1efa the question of "What the hell can we do'" I carried the bdl. I 

was the representative at the big .. eting at the White House, I was on the 

second story at the White Houae in a bil ro08, in which everybody was 

shaken by this decision to build a wall. Everybody had a different idea 

.s to wbat we shoulcl do. I recollUl8nded in behalf of the Chiefs that we do 

not sit idly by and have this 80 on without sa.e positive reaction. Our 

reaction Wal that we should send a couple of divisions to Europe; we ahould 

call up reserves or the National Guard; and we should reinforce our forces 

in Berlin by one brigade. The Vice Preddent wae 111 Europe at the tillS via-

iting in Berlin and it was suggeated that he stay there to receive the 

additional brlpde COIling into Berlin. That action was taken. And the 

President approved, in spite of the fact that every other agency at that 

.. etina said that What ve were proposing would be provocative. 

Matloff: How about the State Departmentf Do you recall its pOSition? 

Leanitzer: It wea not 111 favor of it. 

Matloff: Not in favor of the call up of reserves7 

Le1lDitzer: I don't recall that they opposed it; they certainly didn't sup­

port it. No one at this .. eting supported calling up reserves and sending 

additional troops to Europe. Everyone thought it was provocative. 

Matloff: This raia.s a question about the handling of this crisia, c01lpared 

with that of the Bay of Pigs. What was the differencaf 
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Le1lJlitler: MIIIlral Burke and 1 were vith Predd.at KenDedy on the aft.rnoon 

of the 17th of April [19611--1 think that waa the date of the Bay of Plga--and 

ve sav that the Prelident val very, very troubl.d. Bobby Kennedy vae in and 

out occaelonally. It vae obvioue that Preaident Kennedy recalled eOBe of 

the dachlonl that had been IUd., particularly the cancelling of the air 

attack. You could juat .ee the i.pact of the Berlin •• 11 reaietering on 

the Preaid.nt •• nd hil re.ctlon in .pprovinl the Joint Chief recoaaendation. 

1 was at the Atheoa aeeting of the NATO .inietere, at which nuclear 

guideline. vere adopted for the fint tiM. It vu in Kay of Preddeot 

Keonedy'e fir.t year. A. Secretary McHa .. ra aod 1 vel'. S.ttiaa ready to 

le.ve, va lot a dir.ctive fraa the predd.nt, to pt to Bangkok. The 

P.thet L.o had broken the c •••• -fire aoratoriua •• nd had coae down to the 

Hakoq ll1 .. r. Our directive fro. the Pr.aid.nt ... to deteraioe whetber 

the Mekong liver •• s a euffic1ent obetacle to keep the Pathet L.o fraa 

lOinl into Thailand and wheth.r the Thaie bad the capability to stop the 

infiltration of Pathet Lao into Thailand. 

Matloff: Thi. 1 .. ue calle up durinl the Berlin cr111e1 

Le.nitzerr Shortly there.fter. It v.e in May of the firlt ye.r. 

Hatloff: So you vere g.tting cr1811 after cr1l1e. 

Le.nitzerr Secretary HcNaura and 1 fIe. fro. Athena, and Inlt.ad of loiog 

to Waeh1ngton. wot to BanSkok, and looked at the aituatioo. The MeltonS 

Uver 10 the dry .eaeon 10 Hay .a. not ao obatacle at all. 
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Manul Serit [f) and Secretary KcRaun clashed very llharply on who woulcl 

pay for the equipaent for the eatablishment of a border s.curlty force. 

ADd .0 nothina wa. acoapUshecl. But when we returned fro. that trip--we 

went to Sailon and back to Washinaton-- we reco.ended. aud Secretary HcNaaara 

aaned, tbat we .. ud an infantry battalion and a tactical air force to each 

of two air ba... in nortb.rn Tbailaud. 

Matlof!: We'l1 talk about the .... t Asia problem sooo. You were speaUna 

about the clifferenees in the handling of the Bay of Pigll and the Berlin 

erials. What did you taka away as the l •• sons of the cri.i. over Berlin in 

dealinl with the Soviet Union. and about American handlinl of tbe cri.ia? 

Lean1tzera Than wa. no proble., becausa they were .Uitary activitie •• 

The .11itary had control of it. We didn't bave so.e agency like CIA oper-

atina out in left field. W. were dealing with our own military capabilities 

in re.ponding to these thinas. 

Matioft. I think that 111 probably what led you to the Thailand i .. " •• becau •• 

there again thare was a recomaandation about llcae application of force. 

L8IIIlitzer. We were to occupy two airbase. in lIOrthern Thailand to let the 

Pathet Lao know that we weren't going to stand idly by and .ee thea coae 

clown and infiltrate nortbern Thailand. 

Hatloffr WOuld it be fair then to say that tbill wa. one of the leaaon. that 

you drew fro. the Berlin ezperienee, that there had to be a demouatration 

of forc. of lloa. kind? 

Leanltzer, It va,. ye •• 
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Matloff: SiDce wetre onto Southeaat Ada, lat's talk a little bit about 

Laos and V1etna •• 

Leuitzer: Vait a lIlinute, the Bay of Piga w .. OIl the 17th of April. The 

Athena guidelinea meatlng and then the reca.mendation to go into Thailand, 

were 1n May, the next month. 

Matloff: We also have the Berlin crisl. slithering in. 

Lean1t'er: Exactly. In the .. we had the authority of the President, who 

approved the actiona, and it waa up to us to carry the. out. 

Matlo!f; Thi8 was the big difference fraa the handllng of the Bay of Pig8 

operation. On the Laos and Vietoa. lnvolveaent, what do you think was at 

stake for Aaerlcan security ln these area. during your tenure as Chairaan? 

Do you feel that there wa. an important stake here for American security? 

Ileanbar, there was the civil war in Laol, and it was the beginning of an 

involv ... ut of lorts in Vietoa. a8 well. w.. there any agree~nt in the 

Joint Chiefs, or between the Joint Chiefs and the Secretary of Defen.e, 

that American .ecurity interests were involved In the developments In Lao. 

and Vietu.? 

Leuitzer: The first decisions that were .ade dealt with how you carry out 

the provi81ons of the Geneva accord with regard to Southeast A.ia. As you 

know, 12 nation. attended that particular conference 1n Geneva. The United 

State. did not aign the re.olution that we. made, but it divided Southeast 

Asia into four part.--Laos, Cambodia, North Vietnam, South Vietna.. The 

deciSion wa ... de by the Pre.ident and approved by the CODgres., that we 

wera going to .. si.t South Vlstne. in bulldiDI up its security, Its econGaY, 
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and .0 OIl. 1'bat.,.. our objective. We vere clo"iaa the .... iIl·variou. part. 

of the world. ADd 80 we firet aent a ailitary advisory group Into Salgon. 

Matloffl This 1s ill the wate of the Geneva Conference of 1954? 

Leanitzer, Yea. 

Matloff: Did you have any iapre .. ion. of Dle.? I don't know whether you 

ever at up vi th hia? 

Lemnltzar: A great sany ti.... I vi.lted Saigon vith Secretary KeHa .. ra; it 

su.t have baen 8 or 10 ti.... Each ti •• ". had long conferenc •• with Pre.ident 

Di... 1 adaired Pre.ident Dle., ""0 wa. a 8rut laadar. Hi, weakae •• lay 

In the fora of the action hi. broth.r we. involved in. Up until the tim. I 

left to go to Paria to take over ae SACSR, 1 had great confidence ill Die •• 

But I lOlt track of the dev.lopaants in Dle.'. situation and I vaa greatly 

shocked wh.n I heard of hi. aa ... llnation. 

Matloff: There has been eoae thbl.king that had ba reaained on tb. scene 

activaly, awnts .ight bava gone soaewhat differently. 

Leaaitzer: I'. aure. But vith hi. leadership. 

Hatloff: Did you believ. in the doa1.no theory about South.a.t Aaia? 

LemDitz.rl I won't say that I believed in it. I believed that if the 

Bortb ViatnalRea. succeeded ill overruning South Vietna., th.y would overrun 

Laos and Caabodia, yea. If that's an .xpre •• ion of the doalno th.ory, one 

.tat. fal11ng after another, I believed in it. 

Matloff: Do you recall in conection vith tha civil war going on in Lao. in 

1961, the .... year ill whlch all the.e criee, were breaking. whether you 

and the Joint Chief. recoaaanded the use of force? 
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Le1lllitzerl No. I don't think. that we raeolllaea.ded the use of force. We 

reeoamended the military advisory group there. 

Matloff: How did you evaluate the Kennedy role in handling the Laos eivU 

war cri81.'l 

Le1IJli tzer: I w.sn' t around here too long at ter the t. I was over in SHAPE. 

Matloff: Were you around when Kennedy decided to send advi.or. to Vietnam? 

Lellll1tzer& Y ••• 

Matloff& Wa. thb 18sue put to the Joint Chief. for consultatioo or advice? 

Were the Joint Chief. brought in on thil, and did they go along with thia? 

Le1lllitzer: The Cb1efl went alons, just like with MAAG8 in various countries 

all around the world. I doo't know how.any HAAGS. I had a hand in e.tab­

lishing the MlAGS for the handling of ailitary equip .. nt. 

Matloff: You .aw this aa another Itep io the right direction. 

Leanitzer: That's right. 

Matloffa Let lie project ahead DOW. You .ay not want to go into this area, 

but in your view, did we fail io Vietnam, and if 80, why and in what reapects' 

Le1lll1tzerl We failed in Vietnall, yes. Definitely it va. a defeat, both a 

ailitary and a political defeat. In ay opinion, as a .. tter of fact I've 

lectured OIl this allover, it'.· the fint .. jor lIUitary defeat in American 

hbtory. 

Matloff' How would you evaluate Kennedy'. role in handling the Vietnam 

crl.il, as you look back on it'l 

Lnnitzerl I thought up until the tiu I left .. Chalr1181l thet he wa. 

doing reaaonably well and that he had the right objective. Ue wanted to 
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prevent the •• nation. fraa going cOllllUlliat, and be didn't bave any partic-

ular alternative. That was our solution in tho •• daye. That waa .tandard 

operating procedure. 

Matloff: .Wa. the factor, in your view, ae you look back now, of Aaerican 

public opinion taken eufficiently into account in waging a li.ited war that 

became protracted? The writera OQ l1a1ted war bave bad sober second thought. 

on thb subject. 

Leanitzer: I don't think that the public for a long tin uaderstoocl what restric­

tions and liaieationa were put on the allitary. 1 think the gfeat failure in 

Vietna. was the way w handled our own forces. We dicl DOt take the wraps off. 

t recall sitting in .y office at SHAPE juat outside of Parie. I opened !!!!. 

Herald Tribune, and I learned that Preeident Johnson at a pre.a conference 

announced that we would never attack North Vietnaa. 1 thought, for God's 

sake, 1Ihat kind of a war :le this? If we had turned our people loose, and 

.. de a proper attack on the North, up around Hanoi, and so forth, it would 

have been an mtlrely cl1fferent war. But I was involved not by rellOte 

control and the oo1y thing that worried me was the per.istent re.trictions 

upon the US8 of the United State •• llitary forces. 

Matloff: Can you think of way. in which other Vietnaae can b. avoided? 

Le.nitnr: Ye., 1 can conceive that if we're careful and decide that U.S. 

military action is nec •••• ry, we u •• the full power of the .iltt.ry to win. 

Matloff: Lit .. turn your attention, if 1 may, to aolle Cold W.r polici.s 

in gener.l. You reaeaber that basically we w.re operating under the policy 

of contabuunt. Old you believe that this vas a realistic policy? that the 

.ssumptions which underlay contaia.ent were realistic or credible? 
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Lealt.ert Ye., 1 dU. 1 diet have certain aception. to the idea of con-

taiaaent because 1 was a .e.ber of the tea .. that were involved in a .tudy 

known .. Exerci8e Solariwa. 1 va. 10 LondoQ on the Kerait R008evelt lec-

ture., and 1 vi8ited .y 80n, who va. a lieutenant ••• igned to Germany. 

After the lecturinl part of my vialt, Illy wife and 1 took a couple we •• 

leave to vieit bla. 

HatlOffl Do you reaellber about what y.ar thb va.? 

Leanit.er: That was the first year of Pre.ident Bis.nbower's tenure as 

President. We weat out to dinaer the nilht 1 got into Germany, and da_ed 

if a .otorcycle courier didn't arrive and deliver a .e •• ale to .e to return 

t~ Washington ta.edlately. 1 wa. Deputy Coamandant of the National War 

College. 1 wa. getting the military aid prosram underway, and I was vorkinl 

on the NATO treaty. I had to coile back quickly. In the early .onth. the 

President and Secretary Dulle. held a conference--Dull.. was visiting the 

Pre.ident up on the top of the White Hou.e, in the aolarlu.--and General 

Ei.enhower decided to bave an overall .tudy on the strategy that ve should 

undertake dUinl hla administration. When 1 ca .. back, I found out that 1 

va. a •• lIned to a teaa. There were three t..... One wa. headed by Georla 

Kennan, who advocated containaant; another one was a little bit IDOre a8gre.-

sive type of policy; and the third ona was a considerably lIlore ag8re •• ive 

type. 1 va. .. .igned to the third teaa. 

Matloffl The most 81Ir ••• ive teaaT 

Leait.er: Ye.. I macle the presentation for our teaa at the end of the 

six week. period, durinl the s~ertime. at the National War Collele. 
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Kennan gave the concluaiona of hi. tea., and 1 foraet wIlo waa the next one. 

ADM Connelly. who waa the h~ad of our teea. was the president of the Naval 

War Collese at: the tiu. Our tea.' a reeoamendation was to be lIOre agsrea-

aive--the Pre.ident'. que.tion of Que.ay and Matau waa very much in the wind 

at that time--that we ahould be a lot IIOre agsr .. aive. help the Chineae. 

and be u1II1ed aure that the comaun1a t. don't take Qneaoy. Tha twa. the 

moat popular reco.mendation. 1 forget the wordins in the recaa.endation, 

but it called for a much more &Isreaaive policy. It lasted until the 

budget waa put together, and it COlt too .uch. 

Matloff: The reca.aendation of your tea.? 

Le1ll1i tzer: Yea. Our tea.' a racca_cia tion lnvol vad too auch preparation and 

building up too .. ny forces for it, and takina too laUch of a .ilitariatic 

approach. 

Matloff: Buically you felt that the aaau.ptions of the containaent policy 

were valid? 

Lnanitzers Valid with a bit of bu11dinS up of our atrength 80 .. to .. stat 

in contaia.ent and to reaiat intrudins in otber parta of the world, if 

neceaaary. 

Matloffs I want to aak you a question al80 on .Uitary aid. You'". spoken 

on thi. and were involved in thia for ao .any yeara. How effective do you 

vi •• military aid, on the baaia of your long experience with it, as a tool 

in the Cold War? I. tbere a lanaral i.pre.sion that you have? Do you .. e 

it .. affective in ~e caaea, not in other.T 

Leanltzer: I tbink that military aid was extre .. ly effective under the 

conditions that exiated. When I was sent to London by Mr. rorrestal to 
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sit in DO the military comaittae of the five power.--Britain, France, Belgiua, 

Netherlands, and Luxe.boura--the one directive we got fro. Mr. Forrestal wa. 

to find out what they needed. It waa the eaBleat assign.ant 1 ever bad. 1 

sat in on two day. of the meeting and I found out tbat they needed everything. 

They were flat on their faca ... a re.ult of the war. There wa. no 1Il1litary 

power in Europe, which waa wide open to the Soviet Union. 1 felt that the 

original military aid prosra. vaa deailDed to as.i.t our European friend •• 

But what happened? Louis Johneon was the Sacretary of Defanae. He wa. 

oppo.ed to military aid. We were just getting the military progra. underway 

when the Korean War broke out. So what waa planned for Europe had to be 

spread around to Korea. 1 have a coupl. of yarns to tell about the appearance 

of General Bradley and my •• lf before the Foreign Affaira Coaalttee of the 

Bouse. We were presenting the military aid prograa, that first budset, to 

the Ca.aittee on the 25tb of June, 1950. 1 got hoae from the presentation 

00 a Saturday noon, and 1 found out that the war bad atarted 1n Korea. The 

comaitte. started raising bell with lIle. They were approving about a bIllion 

dollar budget, and .. king whether we were getting the organization atarted. 

They were alway. battering me as to how mucb we were going to send to Korea. 

The eo.mttes waa saying, "What can we send to Korea? Take all the wrap. 

off .nd gi.e the. anything that 1a available. The South Koreana need help.-

So I sent mes8&ge. over and I aaked Gen. MacArthur's headquarters to let us 

know what they could get for Korea. Every day we used to catch hell because 

there were DO answara fro. MacArthur'. headquarter.. They vera crying to 

fight a war. I'll never forget, if 1 ltve to be a tbouaand yeara old. I 
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got a aes"S8 fro. MacArthur'. headquarter., and it told me what we were 

going to gi~e under the .illtary aid progra. to Korea. Do you know what it 

was? It".. 200 .11es of field wire. 1 was tangled up in that G--D­

field wire for the re.t of .y tiae on the .iIitary aid prograa. That wa. 

the 001y thins thet we bad there. The EIghth Aray was disorganized. It 

was only an occupying force. It didn't have a lot of equl,..nt that could 

be turned over to the Koreans. But the point I'. lII&kina is that of the 

Ii.ited re.ources of the .ilitary aid progra., which was designed for 

Europe, a large allQunt had to go to Korea, and also we had to g1 va soa. to 

the French fighting in Southeast Asia. So the first budgetary aecunts were 

spread. 1 wu her. 10 Washington and living in the Pentagon the day that 1 

went out with Secretary Johnson to Andrews Air Force Base for the first 

B-17s, under the progra., to be delivered to the British. 

Matloff: So the prograa got sOdewhat diluted? 

Lumitzer: Yes. Diluted bedly. 

Matloff: Did this have an i.pact on its effectIvene .. in certain areas of 

the world? 

Leanltzer: It did. because it was spread over 80 auch. 

Matloff: I won't belabor the question which i. often raised by some historians 

about the origins of the Cold Were There's a revls10niat thesis, that the Cold 

War is as much the responsibility of the United State. as of the Soviet Union. 

Soae historians, particularly leftist historians, have been aaintalning that 

the Russians were reactinl to allressive American policies in the postwar 

period. Do you put any stock 10 that! 
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Leao1tzer, Ho, I don't, absolutely not, beeau.e the Ruelian. did not d8.o-

btltze. That wa. one of the .. in featur •• that cau.ed the military aid 

prograa to be adopted. Our European all1et-they were DOt our allie. in 

1946, '47 aDd '48--were powerle... Their military forcet did not exi.t; 

tbeir econollies were in bad repair. The military aid program was to provide 

tbe beginning of the rebuilding of tbeir military forces. The rea.on that 

NATO was adopted was that the Ruesian threat, not having d.lIObllized aftar 

WWlI, was .0 graat, that there was no way that they could handle it the.-

aelv... I think it was right. Now, bere I had a problea in this building 

in the military aid progr... I found out that th. Joint Chiefa of Staff 

were starting to grumble and growl that I was working OIl a program that va. 

goIng to tet. a lot of their equi,.ant away fro. thea. And we were. I 

reme.ber a conversatIon 1 had with Gen. Collins, who W88 really my bo ••• 

He was Chief of Staff of th. Army. I re.ember that I said to ht., "But 

General, if we don't use our military equlp.ent effectively, to build up 

tb. strength of our alliel, you are goIng to have to ute World War II equip­

ment in the Uniteel Stat •• Any for SO years. The only way you're goIng to 

get any new equl~ent 1. to get rid of tbia equi,..nt and strengthen our 

a1U..... That's th. arguaent that I u.eel on the Hill. Surely, we had 

thit equipment running out of our ears. 

Hatloffl That proved to be an effective argument" 

Le.nitzerl Absolutely. We got soa. substantial budget.. NATO wouldn't 

have been anythina during the ti1ll8 that I was SAC'!U& if we didn't have th. 

streaath that wat largely provided by American military equipm.nt. 
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Matloff: Let a. uk. you in the area of araB control and diNl'1I .. ent--thla 

is still during the perlod of Chairman of the Joint Chief.. What was your 

view toward ara. control and di.araUleat 10 that perlod? This 18 a period 

when the Joint Chief. of Staff were coaina up alain.t this que.tion of 

whether there should be • cOIlpreheulve test ban treaty. As I recall it, 

tbe Joint Chief. bad ai.alvinl. on that acora. Do you recall auy view. by 

youuelf or the Joint Chiefs OIl the coaprehentive test baa treaty? In '63 

we do get the It.ited telt baa treaty, actually, but this one geta turned 

down. 

La1lDitnr: 1 don't recall that we oppo.ed a te.t bau treaty. We bad our 

auspicion. about verificatlon. 

Matlolf' Do you recall, .... there _)' pre.aura by the eda1niatration, 

particularly the tennady adalnlatration, oa the Joint Chiefa ia connection 
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with arl .. control and diaananent? in con_ctlon with the teat ben treaUed 

Lemoitzer: 1 don't recall any. 

Matloff: That 8Ugpatlon cOlle. up later 00, and you find it in the Taylor 

book. 

Leani tzer: In wha t 1 

Hatloff: In Maxwell Taylor's book, Swords and Plowaharea, the queation wea 

rai.ed whetber there was pres.ure put on or not put on, but that probably 

waa beyond your period, t imagine. 

Lemait.er: That'a right, but, in 88oeral, our concern w •• on the verifica­

tion i.sue all along. We were out in front of the Soviet Union. We didn't 

know too 1DUeh about what they were doing_ We wera kind of shaken by their 

getting a nuclear capability and the way they got it. That had a major 

i.pact upon the flexible respon.e problem and the NATO atrategy. Juaptng 

way abead, I had this proble. witb Gen. De Gaulle when I was SACEU1, and 

I'll talk about that when we set to that point. 

Matlolf: In otber worda, tbere was a relationship between strategic plan­

ninS and ariaS control. Ancl thb cosea, apparently, alona with the NA'l'O 

question. 

Lemattaerr That's correct. 

Hatloff: I'll try to wind up the area of relation. with OSD In tens of 

perspectives. A. you look back on OSD organization and .anageaent, aa • 

result of your experience aa Chalman, and any subsequent reflection that 

you may have done about thia question, how do you ... tbe role. of the Joint 

Chiefs of Staff and the Cbal1'11an in the OSD setup! and the relationship. 
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between the Joint Chiefa of Staff and the Secretary of Defense? 1'111 speak-

Ing now ln teras of any ne.d for changes in the structure or working rela-

tiona at the top levels in 050. I'. lure that you have reflected on thb. 

Leanltzer: I've testifled before Conareal on about four occaalona on the 

question of the reorganlzation of the Joint Chiefs of Staff. I do not 

agree with the eatabllshaent of ao.etblna al1llOst equivalent to a slnale 

Chief of Staff. I'. Violently opposed to this. I thlnk that the structure 

w.'ve got can be expanded to .... t requirem.nts. It's the conduct of the 

budn ... in the Joint Chiefs of Staff that needa looking at. As I polnted 

out to you, the t.p .. sea, and taauea, are talked over and they're sort of 

lIOll1fted, in order to get aareellent. I think that's entirely the wrong 

idea. I think that under the paat chairman, Gen. Jon.s, the Chiefs vere 

allowed to be at an ilapa ... for week. and week. on 11IIportant t.suea. 

Matloff: You would in.l.t that they resolve the.? 

Leanltz.r: In.y Uu, they had to resolve thelll wlthin a week or send lt 

to the next level. The Cabinet couldn't be at an ll11pa.se .ore than a week, 

until he iuue got up to the next level. 

Matloff: Would that be your reca..endation on thi.? 

LelllDitzer: That i. correct. I think a lingle chief of ataff 1a dangeroua, 

for the rea.on that he is affected by hia .ilitary specialty wbere his servlce 

is. I think that you have to have all of your service., becau.e total war 

today involve. all of the fore .. , land, sea and air. 

Hatloff: So you would ke.p the service. and the departaanta as they are now? 

Leanlta.r, That'a correct. 
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Matloff: How about the Secretary of Defense' Arly changes in his functions 

or his relationships' 

La.nitzerl No, I think dnat he responds directly to the President; the 

Chiefs respond to the Secretary of Defense. 'rankly, I've tried to explain 

it in uny way.. It 1s DOt a question of the organization and the structure. 

al it is in personal relationship.. When Louis Johnson vas the Secretary 

of Defense, he didn't ask the Chiefs for any reco •• ndations. Be had his 

own ideas; he ignored them. Ue was violently opposed to NATO; and vas 

twice violently opposed to the military aid progra.. No structure could 

deal effectively vith what was golnl on in tho •• days. I personally feel 

that the relationship between the President and the Secretary of Defense 

depends on ,erlonaliti.s. There isn't any structure there; it's personal 

relationship.. I believe also that the relationships between the Secretary 

and the Chief. of Staff are proper. Thers's a tendency' among aany of .y 

friends DOW that the Cbairaan ought to be in the chain of coamand. I don't 

see that that', going to do any good, if you've lot the wrong personalities 

in the Chaimen, and so forth. The Cbairaan can have hi. vie... But I 

r .... ber a statement that Adairal King made at one time. I vasn't a very 

enthusiatic supporter of ADM King. But after the val' I w .. Gen. Marshall's 

representative on the Joint Strategic Survey Comaittee. and I read a state-

IDent that the CNO brought. ADM King 8aid that he vas frustrated and impa­

tient during the war with the Joint Chiefs of Staff operation. But he said. 

"In retrospect. after we discussed and argued a major elecision within the 

Joint Chiefa of Staff. we invariably got a better decision than we would 
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have gotten 1f they had adopted .y decision lnitially.~ He said that after 

the discuaslons, which caused hi. a lot of pain, because of delay and 80 

forth, ca .. a better decision than when he fir8t arrived at a reco ... ndation. 

Katloffl Let.e turn to the per80nalities, 8tyles, the effectiveness of 

the Secretaries of Defense and other top officials 10 OSD and tbe Joint 

Chiafs of Stsff with wbo. you worked over tbe year8. Let ae 8tart witb 

Mcilroy, one of the Secretarie8 with whoa you bad 80ae deaUnss. Do you 

have any i.pres8ions of hia as a Secretary of Defen8e--bow be worked and 

how be appeared to you in term8 of style and effectivenes.? 

Leanitzer: Yes. My iapreasion of Secretary McIlroy was, fir8t, that be 

had a ahort fuze. He we. loclined to ute decision8 before they were 

carefully thousht out. We had no difficulty witb support that he gave to 

the ailitary, but he wa. inclined to be too quick on the trisaer. 

Matloff: How about Gate.? 

Leanitzerl One of the best. And I attribute it partly to bis .. rvice a 

Nevy Secretary and partly to his seneral per8onality. He vas careful, thor-

ough. deci81ve. 

Ma tloff : KeNalUra 1 

Leanltzerl A tendency to try to dilute or over.ee important military deci-

8ions as a result of his 8etting up the syste •• analysis staff. 1 tbousht 

tbat he va inclined to deal too much in the details of the services, with 

their procurement and tbinss of that kind. I w .. 8trongly opposed to the 

ree tric tion, the t he imposed on the aUi tary durina the events in the war 

in Southeast A,ia. The restrictions c .. e fro. hi. and hi. administration. 
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They didu't alway. cOlle froa Conlre... There va bl ... coulb to 80 all 

tbe way around. 

Matloff& Gen. Tw1ninl. tbe predece .. or with whoa you worked? 

Lemn1tzerz Ae Chai~ t felt that tbe operation. were sloved down because 

of hb inel.ci81 vene.. or hb at tellptina to resolve thinas IIOre quickly or 

.end thell up to the proper level. 

Matloffl ADM Burke, a .. libel' of the Joint Chief.! 

Leanit.erl I thoqbt that he was a great ClO. Be was fortbright, very fair, 

but .trongly Navy. 

Matloff, CeD. Tholla. Whit., on the Air rorce .ide. 

Lemait.erl That'. lIy cla .... te. I considered hi. one of the 1I0et rounded, 

intellectual. fair, thorouah, depeadable ... bers of the Chief. of Staff t 

have known. 

Mat10ffl ODe IIOre Air rorce IUD, Cen. Curti. LeMay-

Lemoit.erl I think LeMay was very positive. He was inclined not to con.ider 

properly the views or requirellent. of the other .. rvice •• 

Hat10ff: In terml of the ~.t effective Secretary of Defense with who. you 

.erved, if you bad to rat. one. whOll would you pick! 

Le1IDit.erl Secretary Cates. I was with Ceneral Marshall for a very .hort 

tille, but OIl the overall, Secretary Catel. 

Matloff: I'll rail. the la.8 que.tion about two pre.idents. Eisenhower and 

ICenaedy. Would you COIIUDt OIl their Ityle., pereonal1ti •• and effectivena .. 'l 

You. served ~nder many presidentl, but I'll pick on those two. If you want 
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I knov tha t you had worked 

Leaait.ers Yee, I came to the conclusion, as I pointed out in my remark.a 

at Weat Point, that Ei •• nbower vaa one of the DOSt unifying preaidents that 

we had--unifying by pulling issue. together. That ca_ up very much In .y 

going around and talking to people about the Ei.enhower aonuaent. They 

said, -Noching happened during the period of Eisenhow.r. There vas peace." 

I responded, "But what brought the quiet and peaceful period of eight years 

about? Becau.e he dealt with the lasues as they caM up IIDd got the. 

resolved in the early Btagea, they didn't become .. jor i.su ••• • 

Mat10ff: This raises a very intereatina point. There is a bia debate 

going on a.ona the scholars about Eisenhover. lecently there'. been a lot 

of literature to the effect that he vas lID active president, unlike the 

earlier view that he was rather passive. There haa been talk of a hidden 

hand leadership, that behind the seenea he was really manipulating IIDd 

controllina things. Would you ao along with that? 

Leanitzer: Yea, I would. He aettled things behind the seenes and without 

a great deal of play. 

Matloff: Could you .hed .o.e light on bow and where he was aettina hi. 

Infor.atlon and advice as president? Would he pull you in, for example, 

on 1asu.s other than Aray, if he wanted to use you as a sounding board? 

Did he rely on trusted old frienda and colleagues with whoa he had worked, 

or was he relying on the formal apparatus? 
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Lell1litsera I belie .. that bie aper1encl .. Supre .. CCIIlMnder, 10 deaUna 

with the other nation. of the world, hi. a1l1e., and 80 fortb, and the 

period. of hi •• Uitary .. nice vere a factor in hi8 conduct aa pre8ident. 

ae hed a trasendou. back,round. Kennedy didn't have that. 

Hatloff' Let'. _itch nov to Kennedy. What i.pre •• ion. do you have of his 

atyl. and hi' effectiven ..... pre.identf 

Le1ID1t.er, In.y opinion, what stand. out about Predelent Kennedy, 18 • 

areat huaan beina and individual. Be wa. a ta.t learner. The thins' 

that he laarued froa tbe Bay of Pi,. stand out, in ay opinion, in hi. quick 

decision and re.olution of ailitary probl ••• later. 

He tlol f : Than he iaproved 88 tt.. wen ton? 

Leanit.err That's correct. I have an opinion of Pre.ielent John.on. Ue 

was inclined to do a deal 10 the politics even of the .llitary affairs, but 

be was not a great leader, in ay opinion. 1 ~ to that concluaionwhen 

aa Supre .. Comaander in Europe I was confronted with the Czech inva.lon in 

1968. 1 wa. pre •• in, the Secretary General of NATO--we can diacue. this in 

further detail when you let on SACBUR--but what I wanted W88 political 

auidance. We put in effact all the clandeatine ailitary arrangements and 

plana that we had, but we cauleln' t ae t any poll tical ,uldance froa the 

secretary General. I was a110 on the phone with thia buildins, about what 

the preaideat was aolnl to do. I aot the word that cau daht out of the 

White Hou.e, 1'. sure it came out of the White Bou.e. Ue aaid, "We just 

atand baek now and a •• what po.ition our al11e. take... That to .e indicated 

complete failure of leader.bip. 
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Matloff: Let.e a.t you one la.t que.tion about your role .. Chaiman. 

Looking back, what do you regard aa your major achi.v .... ta or .ucce •••• 

dur1na your tenure .. Chairaan? 

Leao1Uer: I .ut put right up at nueer one obtainina a .1ngle integrated 

operational plan for the e.ployaent of .trategic weapons--getting that 

particular one re.olved. Another one waa the foraation of the GreeD Beret. 

lupport. It wal primarily an Army function, and there waa the obvloua need 

for a force of that particular kind. Of.y achieveunt. of which I alll 

proud, not nece.aar!ly a. Chairaan of the Joint Chiefa of Staff, 1 would 

DOte particularly the .11itary aid prograa. It produced a Itrength that 

waa badly needed after World War II. I'll tell you another one--not a. 

Chairua, thouSh--th. adoption of flexible R.pon... That occurred ulti­

mately in NATO when 1 waa SAACIUI. But the beginning of it waa wben 1 was 

Chairaan. 

Hetloff: On the other side of the COin, any disappolntaenta, any uncoa-

pleted taaka of that period, that you wish you could have done more with 

had there been ti .. or had the circum.tance. been different? 

ta.Dit •• r: Th. diaappointment waa in our failure in Southe •• t Asia, but 1 

vaa not in there vhen the final collapae occurred. We were on a pretty good 

start, but ve failed. Although I va. in Europe, it wa. a di.appointment. 

Hetloffs Ia there any queation I should have asked you about your chair-

man.hip that I did not? 

Lean! taar: The t one I don t t know. 
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